IN THE MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

No. 2005-KA-01618-COA

#### KENNETH READUS

APPELLANT

# FILED

JUL - 3 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi

Julie Ann Epps (MS Bar No. : 504 East Peace Street Canton, MS 39046 (601) 407-1410 facsimile (601) 407-1435

VS.

۰.

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

Statement of Issuesv
Statement of the Case
Summary of Argument
Law and Argument
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

-

.

Andres v United States, 333 US 740, 92 L Ed 1055, 68 S Ct 880 (1948)
Barclay v. State, 43 So.2d 213 (Miss. 1949)
Biggers v. State, 741 So.2d 1003 (Miss.App. 1999)14
Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836 (Miss. 2005)
Carr v. State, 208 So.2d 886 (Miss.1968)
<i>Clark v. Procunier</i> , 755 F.2d 394 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985)
Coffield v. State, 749 So.2d 215 (Miss.App. 1999)
Dedeaux v. State, 630 So. 2d. 30 (Miss. 1993)
Dilworth v. State, 909 So.2d 731 (Miss. 2005)9
Dudley v. State, 719 So.2d 180 (Miss. 1998) 8
Gray v. State, 926 So.2d 961 (Miss.App. 2006)
Griffin v. State, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss. 1992)9
Hayes v. Com., 625 S.W.2d 583 (Ky. 1981) 6
Hester v. State, 463 So.2d 1087 (Miss. 1985)11
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)8
Lambert v. State, 462 So.2d 308 (Miss.1984)
Montgomery v. State, 515 So.2d 845 (Miss. 1987) 10, 11
Ross v. State, 954 So.2d 968, 1016 (Miss. 2007)
Sadler v. State, 728 S.W.2d 829, 831 (Tex.App. 1987)

Steele v. State, 852 So.2d 78 (Miss.Ct.App.2003)
United States v. Gipson, 553 F.2d 453 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1977)5.6
United States v. Onick, 889 F.2d 1425 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989)
United States v. Sacerio, 952 F.2d 860 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992)
Wade v. State, 748 So.2d 771 (Miss 2000)12
Wortham v. State, 883 So.2d 599 (Miss.App. 2004)

.

•

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

•

- 1. The trial court erred in giving the jury an instruction on depraved heart murder and deliberate design murder that did not require the jury to be unanimous in determining the elements supporting their verdict of murder.
- 2. The evidence is insufficient to support the verdict of murder or, in the alternative, the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.
- 3. The evidence is insufficient to support the verdict of aggravated assault or, in the alternative, the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kenneth Readus was indicted for the murder of his wife Sherry and aggravated assault of his stepson Marlow Jackson. CP. 1; RE. 10. Kenneth and Sherry lived in an apartment in Canton with their two children (Kentrell and Aurelia, approximately seven and five years of age in March, 2002), and her two children from a previous marriage, fifteen-year-old Yuvonda and seventeen-yearold Marlow.

On the night of March 29, 2002, Kenneth came home between 11 and 12 p.m. after completing his shift at Choctaw Maid. T. 68. Sherry, at that time, was working the 3-11 shift at St. Dominic Hospital but had not come home yet. T. 68, 85. Kenneth asked Yuvonda where her mother was and Yovonda replied that she thought her mother was still at work. T. 68. Kenneth left and Yuvonda called her mother who would say only that if Kenneth needed her, he could call her on her cell phone. T. 68.

Sherry Readus did not come home until the next morning around seventwenty a.m. T. 84. According to Yovonda, when Kenneth asked where Sherry had been, she told him not to worry about where she had been, it was none of his business. T. 69, 86. At that point, they started arguing. T. 86. Kenneth had his hand on the front door getting ready to go. T. 70. Sherry called for her son Marlow to come into the room. T. 86. Marlow got out of the shower and came

into the room, grabbing a broom that was by the front door and swinging at Kenneth. T. 69, 87, 106, 108. Kenneth said he was tired of this mess and drew a gun out of his pocket. T. 70. At some point, there was a struggle between Sherry and Kenneth with Marlow trying to get Kenneth's gun. T. 87. While Marlow was trying to grab the gun, he got shot. T. 88, 90. Yuvonda left the room and did not see what happened next. However, she heard a second shot just after the first one. T. 90.

According to Marlow, when he entered the room, Kenneth was standing over Sherry with his fists balled up and she was on the ground holding her face. T. 97. Marlow told Kenneth to get out. T. 98. Marcus testified that Kenneth turned as if to go out the door. The next think he knew, Kenneth had a gun pointed at his chest. T. 98. According to Marlow, Kenneth shot three times – at him, his mother and then into the kitchen. T. 100. According to Yuvonda, there were only two shots and deputies recovered only two shell casings. T. 71, 89, 113.

However, Marlow admitted that when he gave a statement to law enforcement, he did not tell them that Kenneth was standing over Sherry as if he had just hit her. He told investigators that when he entered the room, the two were tussling around. T. 106. He also admitted that he had swung the broom at Kenneth. T. 106.

Kenneth Readus testified that when his wife finally came home, he ordered her to go back where she had come from. He no longer wanted to support her if she was cheating on him. T. 185, 195. He and Sherry began struggling when Marlow ran charging into the room with a broom. T. 187. Kenneth was about to exit the apartment when Sherry hit him on the head with the broom. T. 187. Kenneth pulled his gun out in order to shoot into the air when six-foot-three-inch Marlow grabbed the gun. T. 99, 187. In the struggle over the gun, Marlow got shot. T. 187. Then a second shot was fired. Kenneth testified he doesn't even remember the second shot. T. 187.

The jury was instructed that it could find Kenneth guilty of murder (based on deliberate design or a depraved heart) or manslaughter in the death of Sherry and aggravated assault in the shooting of Marlow. CP. 22, 23, 25; RE. 16, 17, 18. Kenneth, who had never been in any trouble with the law previously, was found guilty of murder and aggravated assault. CP. 29-30; RE. 12-13. He was sentenced to concurrent prison sentences of life (on the murder charge) and twenty years (on the aggravated assault). CP. 32; RE. 15.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Kenneth Readus was indicted for deliberate design murder but his jury was allowed to consider both deliberate design murder and depraved heart murder without being instructed that they needed to agree unanimously on one or the other (or none). This meant that the jury did not necessarily agree on the elements that comprised the murder conviction. This deprived Kenneth Readus of his right to a unanimous jury.

Given that the jurors were not instructed in such a way as to require them to agree on the elements of murder, it is not surprising that they found Kenneth guilty despite the paucity of evidence supporting either deliberate design or depraved heart murder. Kenneth testified, and the state's eye-witnesses agreed, that the shootings occurred when the defendant and the victims were "tussling". <sup>1</sup>

Marlow got shot when he grabbed for Kenneth's gun. If anything, Marlow's getting shot was the result of an accident and did not constitute the crime of aggravated assault.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The state's eyewitness were, of course, Yuvonda and Marlow Jackson. Yuvonda was present when Marlow got shot and she testified that Marlow got shot when he tried to grab the gun. Marlow gave a statement to law enforcement that Kenneth and Sherry were tussling when he entered the room

#### LAW AND ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in giving the jury an instruction on depraved heart murder and deliberate design murder that did not require the jury to be unanimous in determining the elements supporting their verdict of murder.

Instruction S-7 (CP. 22) allowed the jury to find Kenneth Readus gulity of murder if the jury found the elements of deliberate design murder or of depraved heart murder. The jury, however, was not told that they must unanimously agree on one or the other. The jury verdict of guilty, then, does not mean that the jurors were unanimous as to the elements supporting their verdict of murder. As far as we know, six of the jurors considered Kenneth guilty of deliberate design murder and six voted for murder based on the definition of depraved heart murder.

The Sixth Amendment guarantees a criminal defendant the right to a unanimous verdict. *Andres v United States*, 333 US 740, 92 L Ed 1055, 68 S Ct 880 (1948). As the Fifth Circuit stated in *U.S. v. Gipson*, 553 F.2d 453 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1977):

Like the "reasonable doubt" standard, which was found to be an indispensable element in all criminal trials in In re Winship, 1970, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368, the unanimous jury requirement " impresses on the trier of fact the necessity of reaching a subjective state of certitude on the facts in issue". 397 U.S. at 364, 90 S.Ct. at 1072, 25 L.Ed.2d at 375. The unanimity rule thus requires jurors to be in substantial agreement as to just what a defendant did as a step preliminary to determining whether the defendant is guilty of the crime charged. Requiring the vote of twelve jurors to convict a defendant does little to insure that his right to a unanimous verdict is protected unless this prerequisite of jury consensus as to the defendant's course of action is also required.

Gipson, 553 F.2d at 457-458.

In *Hayes v. Com.*, 625 S.W.2d 583, 585 (Ky. 1981), the jury, as in this case, was given an instruction that allowed the jury to find the defendant guilty of murder under alternative theories of either intent or wantonness. The Kentucky Supreme Court reversed and remanded for a new trial on the grounds that the instruction denied the defendant his right to a unanimous verdict.

The instruction combining deliberate design murder and depraved heart murder and allowing the individual jurors to choose one or the other without being unanimous was especially harmful here where the evidence supporting either theory was weak. As discussed below, there was no evidence that Kenneth formed an intent to kill before shooting Sherry. Nor was there any evidence that he was acting with depraved indifference.

Kenneth Readus was denied his right to a unanimous jury. The denial of theis important right requires that his conviction for murder be reversed.

# 2. The evidence is insufficient to support the verdict of murder or, in the alternative, the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

In the case sub judice no reasonable fair minded juror could find Kenneth Readus guilty of murder. The evidence presented by the State was insufficient as a matter of law to support a conviction and the jury's verdict was not supported by the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

Kenneth described the shooting as having occurred in a fight over the gun. The only two other witnesses to the shooting also described the participants as tussling. In the statement that Marlow gave to investigators, he stated that Kenneth and his mother were struggling. At trial, his self-serving testimony left out these facts in order to render Kenneth a cold-blooded killer. But Yuvonda's statement to police and her testimony at trial had the first shot occurring while Sherry and Kenneth struggled and Marlow was trying to get the gun from Kenneth. T. 87.

Where the evidence is insufficient, the court must vacate the conviction. Where the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the conviction must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

Evidence is insufficient where the evidence "viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution gives equal or nearly equal circumstantial support to a theory of guilt and a theory of innocence of the crime charged, then a reasonable jury must necessarily entertain a reasonable doubt." *Clark v. Procunier*, 755 F.2d

394, 396 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985); United States v. Sacerio, 952 F.2d 860, 865-66 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir.
1992) (a "plausible, rational, innocent explanation for almost every action, thus
[lends] reasonable doubt to an inference of guilt"). If a reasonable jury would
doubt whether the evidence proves an essential count, reversal is required. Jackson
v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); United States v.
Onick, 889 F.2d 1425 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989).

In *Carr v. State*, 208 So.2d 886 (Miss.1968), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that in considering whether the evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction in the face of a motion for directed verdict or for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the critical inquiry is whether the evidence shows "beyond a reasonable doubt that accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this test it is insufficient to support a conviction." *Carr*, 208 So.2d at 889.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated on numerous occasions that when determining whether a verdict should be overturned that the "Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused it discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Dudley v. State*, 719 So.2d 180, 182 (Miss. 1998). Under this standard, the prosecution is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." *Griffin v. State*, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss. 1992). When making this review, the Court will reverse only if the jury's verdict is "so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Dilworth v. State*, 909 So.2d 731, 737 (Miss. 2005). The evidence is weighed "in the light most favorable to the verdict." *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005).

As the Mississippi Supreme Court noted in *Ross v. State*, "[t]hough the standard of review is such cases is high, '[t]his Court has not hesitated to invoke its authority to order a new trial and allow a second jury to pass on the evidence where it considers the first jury's determination of guilt to be based on extremely weak or tenuous evidence [,] even where that evidence is sufficient to withstand a motion for a directed verdict." *Ross v. State*, 954 So.2d 968, 1016 (Miss. 2007) quoting *Lambert v. State*, 462 So.2d 308, 322 (Miss.1984) (Lee, J., dissenting).

When reviewing the sufficiency of evidence in a case, the Court must determine "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Gray v. State*, 926 So.2d 961, 968 (Miss.App. 2006).

Mississippi Code Annotated section 97-3-19(1)(b) (Rev.2006) states that a person is guilty of murder "[w]hen done in the commission of an act eminently

dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, regardless of human life, although without any premeditated design to effect the death of any particular individual." Manslaughter is defined as all other killings of a human being "by the act, procurement, or culpable negligence of another, and without authority of law...." Miss.Code Ann. § 97-3-47 (Rev.2006).

The facts of this case certainly don't support a verdict of deliberate design murder. Deliberate design is defined as an "intent to kill, without authority of law and not being legally justifiable, legally excusable or under circumstances that would reduce the act to a lesser crime." *Wortham v. State*, 883 So.2d 599, 604 (Miss.App. 2004). While it is noted that deliberate design "is often not capable of direct proof," it must still be "proven by the inferences **reasonably drawn** from the **objective facts** of the incident" *Coffield v. State*, 749 So.2d 215, 218 (Miss.App. 1999) (emphasis added). The State presented no objective evidence from which an inference could be reasonably drawn by the jury that Kenneth killed Sherry Mitchell with deliberate design.

When only circumstantial evidence exists as to an essential element of the crime charged, "the State is required to prove the defendant guilty not only beyond a reasonable doubt but to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis consistent with innocence." *Montgomery v. State*, 515 So.2d 845, 848 (Miss. 1987); *Barclay v. State*, 43 So.2d 213, 215 (Miss. 1949) (holding that this standard can apply to

"any essential element" of an offense). The trial court is required "to accept as true all the evidence favorable to the state, together with reasonable inferences." *Montgomery, supra,* at 848. The Court must find from this evaluation that "the facts...consistently point to but one conclusion, that is to say guilty." *Hester v. State,* 463 So.2d 1087, 1091 (Miss. 1985). The State in this case has failed to eliminate every reasonable hypothesis consistent with innocence of the charge of deliberate design murder, namely the deliberate design to kill.

Nor do the facts of this case support a verdict of depraved heart murder which is described in the murder statute as a killing of a human being without the authority of law "[w]hen done in the commission of an act eminently dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, regardless of human life, without any premeditated design to effect the death of any particular individual ....." Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(1)(b). Depraved heart murder evidences a greater degree of recklessness than manslaughter. *Steele v. State*, 852 So.2d 78, 80 (Miss.Ct.App.2003).

In *Dedeaux v. State*, 630 So. 2d. 30 (Miss. 1993), an angry confrontation between men who had been drinking sparked a killing at a club. Both murder and manslaughter instructions were given the jury. Dedeaux was convicted of murder and appealed. The Supreme Court reviewed the evidence and found that it supported only a conviction for manslaughter, and remanded the case for re-

sentencing. In doing so, the Court found that even though the defendant retrieved a gun in the parking lot with the intention of confronting and shooting the victim, the facts clearly supported a conviction for manslaughter, not murder. *Id.* at 33. The Court found that the shooting occurred in the heat of passion of the bar room argument and, although Dedeaux used more force than necessary, the evidence showed that he shot the husband without malice or premeditation. *Id. See also Sadler v. State*, 728 S.W.2d 829, 831 (Tex.App. 1987) (evidence sufficient to prove involuntary manslaughter where death resulted when husband and wife struggled over firearm).

Similarly, in *Wade v. State*, the defendant was a wife who had been repeatedly abused by her husband . *Wade v. State*, 748 So.2d 771 (Miss 2000). One night, after he had abused her in the bar that they owned, she left the bar and retrieved a gun. She then returned to the bar and shot her husband *Id.* at 772-73 The Defendant in *Wade* was convicted of murder by the jury, but the Court of Appeals reduced her conviction to heat of passion manslaughter and remanded the case for re-sentencing. The Court of Appeals decision was affirmed by the Mississippi Supreme Court. *Id.* at 773.

The facts in this case do not support a verdict of murder whether murder by deliberate design or depraved heart. The jury's ability to reach a unanimous verdict on murder despite the paucity of evidence was no doubt greatly assisted by

the fact that the murder instruction did not require the jurors to unanimously agree on one theory or another. For these reasons, Kenneth's sentence for murder must be vacated or reversed for a new trial.

# 3. The evidence is insufficient to support the verdict of aggravated assault or, in the alternative, the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

Just as there was a dearth of evidence to support the murder conviction in this case, so, too, was there no evidence to support the verdict of aggravated assault where the evidence was almost uncontroverted that Marcus' wound was caused by a struggle over the gun. Of all the eyewitness, Kenneth, Marlow and Yuvonda, Yuvonda was the only one who did not have any need to justify her own actions and she testified unequivocally that Marlow got shot while he was trying to get the gun from Kenneth. T. 87.

"A person is guilty of aggravated assault if he (a) attempts to cause serious bodily injury to another, or causes such injury purposely, knowingly or recklessly under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life; or (b) attempts to cause or purposely or knowingly causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm." M.C.A. § 97-3-7. In order to convict Kenneth of aggravated assault, a jury would have to find that he meant to shoot Marlow or, at the very least, he acted recklessly "under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to human life." Kenneth was not guilty of aggravated assault if the shooting was an accident. *Biggers v. State*, 741 So.2d 1003, 1007 (Miss.App. 1999).

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