### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KENNETH READUS

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2005-KA-1618-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

1. The record reflects that the jury was properly instructed. Readus was indicted for deliberate design murder under "M. C. A. § 97-3-19(1)." C.P. 3. He admitted in his pre-trial statement that he fired his hand gun inside an apartment containing both adults and children, striking his wife and his stepson. See state's exhibit 8. Yet he claimed in his testimony that he had no intent to kill anyone. He knew his victims were not armed. He knew small children were present in the apartment. Readus admitted he was free to leave the apartment without any interference, only to return firing his weapon at the victims in anger. R. 196; 199. Readus never mentioning any struggle with Marlow in his statement to police. R. 204. Readus did not claim he shot them in self defense or by accident. R. 197-198.

After shooting the victims, Readus drove off in his car, and hid his weapon at his mother's house. R. 202. He did not seek help for the victims. The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated, more than once, that the (a) and (b) sections of 97-3-19(1) are not mutually exclusive but "coalesce." Schuck v. State 865 So.2d 1111, \*1119-1120 (¶ 19-20) (Miss. 2003). The jury was also instructed that all twelve jurors must agree on the verdict. C.P. 20.

2. There was credible, corroborated substantial evidence in support of the jury's murder verdict. Readus admitted he shot his wife and stepson with a hand gun. R. 187-188. She died from that gun shot wound to her abdomen. R. 154. Readus admitted he was free to leave his apartment after a confrontation with his wife without any interference. R. 196; 199. However, he chose to go back inside with his loaded hand gun in his hand. He chose to fire shots, hitting both his wife and Marlow, his stepson. He admitted that he did not shot them by accident or in self defense. R. 197-198. While he claimed he was involved in a "struggle" with his wife, he admitted this was before he had could leave the apartment without interference from anyone. R. 196; 196.

Three eye witnesses testified to seeing "blood" on Ms. Readus head when they were attending to her. R. 60; 111; 124. And Marlow testified that his mother was laying on the floor "holding her face" with Readus "with balled up fist" standing "on top of her." R. 97-98. Yuvonda heard her brother Marlow tell Readus, "to get up off his mother." R. 87. This corroborated evidence indicating that Readus attacked Mrs. Readus prior to her being shot.

Therefore, contrary to Readus' self serving testimony of a struggle, Mrs. Sherry Readus never presented any threat to him at any time. This is also consistent with Dr. Hayne's forensic findings. Dr. Hayne testified that the angle of the path of the bullet was down at "30 to 35 degrees."

R. 158. This would be consistent with the shooter being above a victim who was "on the ground."

R. 158.

While Readus claimed to have struggled with Marlow over the handgun, Marlow clearly denied any struggle occurred. R. 107-108. Readus admitted he did not claim any struggle with Marlow in his statement to investigators. R. 204. And Readus has yet to claim that Marlow was armed, hit him, interfered with his leaving, harmed him or threatened him in any way. R. 130; 187.

3. There was credible, substantial corroborated evidence in support to the jury's aggravated assault verdict. In exhibit 9, Readus' statement to investigators, he never claimed that he struggled with Marlow. R. 204. Rather he stated that he was "tusselling" with Sherry. As he stated in his own words, "we were still tusseling and I pulled the pistol and shot Marlow Jackson and Sherry Readus." There was clearly no statement about any accident caused by a struggle with Marlow.

Marlow testified that he was shot by Readus. R. 99. Yuvonda, who was standing near him, testified that she "saw" Readus shoot Marlow. R. 71. Marlow testified he was not struggling with Readus when he was shot. R. 107-108. He had not struck Readus or fought with him.

When shot, Marlow was paying attention to his mother who was injured and bleeding from

her head on the floor Readus was at the apartment's front door. He opened and closed it. However, when Marlow looked back up, Readus shot him at close range and then shot his mother on the floor.

R. 99. Readus admitted that he shot Marlow who was unarmed. He shot him because he came to the assistance of his mother during their quarrel. R. 187-188. Readus was angry because he felt his wife had "disrespected" him. R. 211.

The record reflects that Marlow's testimony was not contradicted or impeached, as claimed in appellant's brief. Rather the statement Marlow gave to investigators was given at the hospital after he had been shot and lost a lot of blood. R. 106. It was abbreviated given his serious and potentially life threatening gun shot to his chest. His live testimony was not contradicted by his previous statement. It was merely different. Marlow made it clear that he saw Readus "standing on top of his mother" with his fist "balled up." His mother was "holding her face." R. 109. Yuvonda heard Marlow tell Readus "to get up off his mother." R. 87. This was just prior to Marlow being shot by Readus.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **PROPOSITION I**

#### THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED IN THE INSTANT CAUSE.

Mr. Readus' appeal counsel argues that the trial court erred in granting jury instruction S-7. Jury instruction S-7 was a jury instruction for murder under M C A § 97-3-19(1), which combined under section (1)(a) "deliberate design" murder, with section (1)(b) "depraved heart" murder. Appellant counsel believes that this instruction was improper because this supposedly allowed the jury to find Readus guilty of either one of these two alternative forms of murder without any assurance that they unanimously found him guilty of all of the elements of one or the other. Appellant's brief page 5-7.

To the contrary, the record reflects an evidentiary basis for the instruction. Readus admitted to firing a hand gun "inside" an apartment which he knew contained unarmed adults, as well his own vulnerable under age children. R. 187. This was while Readus was ordering his wife and stepson out of "his house." He admitted to shooting his wife and step son. R. 187-188. Yet he claimed no intent to kill or harm anyone.

The trial court found based upon precedents of the Mississippi Supreme Court that there was a basis, under the facts of this case, for providing an instruction that included deliberate design and depraved heart murder based upon M. C. A. § 97-3-19 (1) (a) and (b).

As stated by the trial court:

Court: Well, I'll tell you, based on the footnote Mr. Rogillio read from Windham v. State at 602 So. 2d 798, that's an indication of this being allowed, but that case brought forward—and it appears to me, as the Supreme Court says in Shuck v. State at 865 So. 2d 111, it says they addressed this issue in Mallette v. State, 606 So. 2d 1092. And then it appears they addressed the same thing in Sanders v. State at 781 So. 2d 114. And the Shuck v. State case seems to be right on point. And I think Mr. Rogillio makes a reasoned argument, not so much, even thought I think it's appropriate as it relates to discharging a

weapon inside the apartment, but in particular to his statement that shots were fired but there was no intent to kill. You know firing a shot at somebody, I think is—I think all of those facts are sufficient to warrant this instruction. ..R. 222.

Jury instruction S-7 stated as follows:

The Court further instructs you that if you believe from the evidence in this case, beyond a reasonable doubt that Kenneth Readus, on or about March 30, 2002, killed Sherry Readus, a human being, without authority of law, not acting in necessary self defense, and either;

- 1) with premeditated and deliberate design to effect the death of Sherry Readus, human being, with malice aforethought,
- 2) or, done in the commission of an act eminently dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, regardless of human life, although without any premeditated design to effect the death of Sherry Readus, then Kenneth Readus is guilty of murder as charged in count I of the indictment,

In Catchings v. State 684 So.2d 591, \*599 (Miss. 1996), the Supreme Court pointed out that under M. C. A. § 97-3-19 (1), the (b) depraved heart murder clause. had been "subsumed" or "coalesced" with the (1)(a) deliberate design murder clause.

The structure of the statute suggests these are mutually exclusive categories of murder. Experience belies the point. As a matter of common sense, every murder done with deliberate design to effect the death of another human being is by definition done in the commission of an act imminently dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, regardless of human life. Our cases have for all practical purposes coalesced the two so that Section 97-3-19(1)(b) subsumes (1)(a). (Emphasis by Appellee).

In Schuck v. State 865 So.2d 1111, \*1119 -1120 (¶ 19-20) (Miss. 2003), the Mississippi Supreme Court found that the granting of jury instruction S-1 which combined deliberated design with depraved heart murder as stated in 97-3-19 (1) (a) and (b) was not error. The Court rejected Schuck's argument about the two instructions being mutually exclusive and incompatible theories.

¶19... We addressed this issue in Mallett v. State, 606 So.2d 1092, 1094 (Miss.1992), which provides:

There is no question that the structure of the statute suggests two different kinds of murder: deliberate design/premeditated murder and depraved heart murder. The structure of the statute suggests these are mutually exclusive categories of murder. Experience belies the point. As a matter of common sense, every murder done with deliberate design to effect the death of another human being is by definition done in the commission of an act imminently dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, regardless of human life. Our cases have for all practical purposes coalesced the two to the Section 97-3-19(1)(b) subsumes (1)(a).

We held that it was not error to grant both instructions. This view was reasserted in **Hurns v. State**, 616 So.2d 313, 321 (Miss.1993) and **Catchings v. State**, 684 So.2d 591 (Miss.1996). Our holdings in these cases are dispositive of this issue. This assignment of error is without merit.

Sanders v. State, 781 So.2d 114, 118-19 (Miss. 2001). See also Catchings v. State, 684 So.2d 591, 599 (Miss. 1996) (the theory of depraved heart does not amend the indictment and that subsections (a) and (b) of section 97-3-19(1) are "coalesced").

¶ 20. In the present case, Schuck argues that the only theory of murder presented by the grand jury was one of deliberate design murder. Schuck interjects that at no point during the pre-trial, trial or post trial proceedings did the State move to amend the indictment from the grand jury to reflect the theory of depraved heart murder. Schuck's argument \*1120 is that distinct and incompatible theories of murder were given in the instruction. The trial court found that the instruction incorporating both deliberate design and depraved heart murder was proper. Based on the holdings of this Court in Sanders and Mallett, we agree with the trial court and find this issue without merit.

In Windham v. State 602 So.2d 798, \*801 -802 (Miss. 1992), the Court pointed out that malice is implied from any deliberate, cruel act against another, however sudden. Actions showing indifference to any sense of social duty for the welfare of others was sufficient for showing depraved heart murder and malice.

It has long been the case law of this state that malice aforethought, premeditated design, and deliberate design all mean the same thing. See **Dye v. State**, 127 Miss. 42,90\$\text{120}\t

'This statute but epitomizes the common law found.... Murder is the voluntary killing of any person of malice prepense or aforethought, either express or implied by law; FN6 the sense of which word malice is not only confined to a particular ill-will to the deceased [such as anger, hatred, and revenge], but is intended to denote ... an action flowing from a wicked and corrupt motive, a thing done malo animo, where the fact has been attended with such circumstances as carry in them the plain indications of a heart regardless of social duty and fatally bent upon mischief. [ And therefore malice is implied from any deliberate, cruel act against another, however sudden ].'

In Chatman v. State 952 So.2d 945, \*948 (Miss. App. 2006), the Court found that evidence that Chatman shot into a home with people present was sufficient for showing depraved heart murder. Chatman, like Readus, claimed that he intended to shoot but did not intend to harm anyone.

¶8. Although Chatman claimed that he did not intend to shoot anyone, he did shoot into a home where people were present, which is a textbook example of depraved heart murder. Windham, 602 So.2d at 802.

Hayes v. Comm. 625 S. W. 2d 583, 585 (Ky. 1981), relied upon by Readus, is of no avail. The defendant in that case was delusional, with chronic mental illness, and medically diagnosed as a paranoid schizophrenic. Likewise, the Kentucky murder statute is stated differently from M. C. A. §97-19-3(1).

The Appellee would submit the trial court correctly admitted jury instruction S-7. C.P. 22-23. The record reflects that the jury was properly instructed, given the facts of this case and the precedents of the Mississippi Supreme Court. This issue is lacking in merit.

#### **PROPOSITION II**

# THERE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL CORROBORATED EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF READUS' CONVICTION FOR MURDER.

Readus' appeal counsel believes there was insufficient evidence in support of his conviction for murder. She thinks there was neither sufficient evidence of deliberate design murder nor depraved heart murder. She does not believe there was evidence for inferring either deliberation or a depraved heart motive for Readus' actions. She thinks there was evidence indicating that the shooting of Mrs. Sherry Readus occurred during an alleged "struggle" with Marlow Jackson, Readus's step son. She believes this, in turn, was sufficient for showing a lack of "mens rea" for a murder conviction. Appellant's brief page 7-13.

To the contrary, the record reflects that there was corroborated evidence from which it could be inferred that Readus acted "deliberately" as well as in "an eminently dangerous manner." Readus admitted that he never claimed any struggle with Marlow in his statement to investigators. R. 204. In addition, Readus is contradicted by at least four eye witnesses as to what happened.

Three eye witnesses testified to seeing "blood" on Ms. Readus head when they were attending to her. R. 60; 111; 124. And Marlow testified that his mother was "laying on the ground holding her face" with Readus "with balled up fist" standing "on top of her." R. 97-98. Yuvonda heard her brother Marlow tell Readus, "to get up off his mother." R. 87.

This corroborated evidence indicated that Readus attacked Mrs. Readus prior to shooting her while she was on the floor. Therefore, contrary to Readus' self serving testimony of a struggle, she never presented any threat to him after being assaulted. She was not capable of hitting him with a broom or anything else.

Dr. Hayne testified that the angle of the path of the bullet was down "at 30 to 35 degrees".

R. 158. This would be consistent with the shooter being above the victim who could be "on the ground." R. 158.

Additionally, the record reflects that Readus admitted to deliberately firing a loaded hand gun "inside" an occupied apartment. Readus' testimony was about how he was "temporarily insane," "blacked out," "didn't remember shooting Sherry" or acted supposedly "in the heat of passion." R. 176-212. He did not claim it was an accident in the sense that he did not intend to fire a handgun in a apartment containing small children..

#### Q. So now it's an accident?

#### A. You know in the passion and the heat of the battle. R.198.

Two shells were found in the apartment. R. 113. So at least two shots were fired which is corroborated by his own statement.

The record reflects that Readus knew his apartment contained two unarmed adults and other vulnerable small children. R. 209-210. Readus admitted he was "intending more like a bluff just to get out of my house." R. 214. He admitted that he grabbed his wife while angry. R. 185. He admitted that his firing the weapon in close contact with the victims while angry and this was neither an accident nor done in self defense. R. 187-188; 198.

The record reflects Readus claimed he was free to leave his apartment after confronting his wife over her not telling him where she had been. The record reflects that no one prevented him from leaving. R. 196.

#### Q. Yeah. But there was nobody to keep you from leaving, was there, sir?

A. No. 196. (Emphasis by Appellee).

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